Amendment 2 to Council Bill No. 75-2017

BY: The Chairperson at the request of the County Executive

Legislative Day No. 14 Date: November 6, 2017

Amendment No. 2

(This amendment inserts total costs and the financing company, clarifies language and substitutes a revised Exhibit B that incorporates the agreed-upon rate quote and amortization schedule.)

1	On page 1, in line 23, before "10" insert " <u>up to</u> " and, in the same line, strike "Tax-Exempt".
2	
3	On page 1, in line 26, strike "\$2,177,283 plus" and substitute " <u>\$2,461,779 including</u> ".
4	
5	On page 1, in line 29, in the blank, insert "Banc of America Public Capital Corp.".
6	
7	On page 2, in line 9, strike "Tax-Exempt".
8	
9	On page 2, strike lines 10 and 11, inclusive and in their entirety and substitute:
10	"Lease Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit B attached to this Act, for the lease-to-
11	purchase of six buses for use by the Regional".
12	
13	Remove the Capital Equipment Lease Agreement, attached to the Bill as Exhibit B, in its entirety
14	and substitute a revised Exhibit B as attached to this Amendment.

HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND

CAPITAL EQUIPMENT LEASE AGREEMENT

Dated as of November 13, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I

Page

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01.	Definitions1	l
Section 1.02.	Rules of Construction.	3

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF COUNTY AND LESSOR

Section 2.01.	County's Representations	.3
Section 2.02.	Lessor's Representations, Warranties and Covenants.	.4
Section 2.03.	Tax Covenant.	.4

ARTICLE III

LEASE OF EQUIPMENT

Section 3.01.	Lease of Equipment
Section 3.02.	Term
Section 3.03.	Delivery, Installation and Acceptance of Equipment

ARTICLE IV

LEASE PAYMENTS; SECURITY

Section 4.01.	Lease Payments.	6
Section 4.02.	Interest and Principal Components.	6
Section 4.03.	Title	7
Section 4.04.	Continuation of Term by County.	7
Section 4.05.	Nonappropriation.	7
Section 4.06.	Security Interest; Notice of Name Change	7
Section 4.07.	Financial Statements and Other Information.	8

ARTICLE V

MAINTENANCE; MODIFICATION; TAXES; INSURANCE AND OTHER CHARGES

Section 5.01.	Use and Maintenance of Equipment.	8
Section 5.02.	Liens, Taxes, Other Governmental Charges and Utility Charges	8
Section 5.03.	Insurance	9
Section 5.04.	Advances	9
Section 5.05.	Modifications and Substitutions	9
Section 5.06.	Location; Inspection of Equipment1	0

ARTICLE VI

DAMAGE, DESTRUCTION AND CONDEMNATION

Section 6.01.	Damage, Destruction and Condemnation	10
Section 6.02.	Insufficiency of Net Proceeds	10

ARTICLE VII

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES; VENDORS' WARRANTIES

Section 7.01.	Disclaimer of Warranties.	.11
Section 7.02.	Vendor's Warranties.	.11

ARTICLE VIII

PURCHASE; DEFEASANCE

Section 8.01.	Purchase O	tion1	1
---------------	------------	-------	---

ARTICLE IX

ASSIGNMENT, MORTGAGING AND SELLING

Section 9.01.	Assignment by Lessor.	12
Section 9.02.	Sale, Assignment or Leasing by County.	13

ARTICLE X

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 10.01.	Events of Default	13
Section 10.02.	Remedies on Default	14
Section 10.03.	No Remedy Exclusive	15
Section 10.04.	Additional Payments.	16

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.01.	Notices	16
Section 11.02.	Waiver of Jury Trial and Limitation of Forum.	16
Section 11.03.	Prohibition on Contingent Fees	16
Section 11.04.	Ethics and Fair Employment Practices	16
Section 11.05.	Compliance with Laws	17
Section 11.06.	Retention of Records	17
Section 11.07.	Nondiscrimination in Employment and Contracting	17
Section 11.08.	Binding Effect	17
Section 11.09.	Severability.	
Section 11.10.	Amendments	
Section 11.11.	Execution in Counterparts	
Section 11.12.	Applicable Law.	
Section 11.13.	Entire Agreement.	

EXHIBIT A -- Form of Schedule

ATTACHMENTS TO SCHEDULE:

- A -- Equipment and Proceeds
- B -- Acceptance Certificate C -- Payment Schedule
- D -- Form of Bond Counsel Opinion

CAPITAL EQUIPMENT LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS CAPITAL EQUIPMENT LEASE AGREEMENT, dated as of November 13, 2017 (this "Capital Equipment Agreement") is adopted by HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND, a body corporate and politic and political subdivision of the State of Maryland (the "County").

RECITALS

The County has determined that it is necessary and desirable to enter into this Capital Equipment Agreement for the lease of certain equipment (the "Equipment," as defined herein) upon the terms and conditions set forth herein. Neither the State nor any political subdivision thereof other than the County shall be obligated to pay any amount payable under this Capital Equipment Agreement or any Agreement (defined herein) and neither this Capital Equipment Agreement shall create or constitute any indebtedness or obligation of the State or any political subdivision thereof other than the County.

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01. Definitions.

In addition to the terms defined elsewhere herein, the following terms will have the meanings indicated below when used herein unless the context requires otherwise.

"Acceptance Certificate" means an Acceptance Certificate, in substantially the form set forth as Attachment B to a Schedule, executed and delivered by the County.

"Additional Payments" means any amounts, other than Lease Payments, payable by the County pursuant to the provisions of this Capital Equipment Agreement, as set forth in Sections 5.04 and 10.04.

"Agreement" means this Capital Equipment Agreement and a Schedule, as the same may be amended or modified from time to time, including (without limitation) the Attachments to such Schedule, which shall constitute a fully integrated agreement existing in accordance with its own terms and conditions separate from and independent of all other transactions pursuant to this Capital Equipment Agreement.

"**Bond Counsel**" means McKennon Shelton & Henn LLP or any other law firm having a national reputation in the field of municipal law whose legal opinions are generally accepted by purchasers of municipal bonds appointed by the County.

"Closing" means, with respect to each Agreement, the date of delivery of such Agreement in accordance with this Capital Equipment Agreement.

"**Code**" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and the applicable regulations thereunder.

"**Equipment**" means the personal property and any fixtures identified in a Schedule, together with all replacement parts, additions, repairs, modifications, substitutions, accessions and accessories incorporated therein or affixed to such personal property.

"Equipment Costs" means, with respect to any Schedule, the net purchase price paid or to be paid to the Vendors for any portion of the Equipment described therein upon the County's acceptance thereof and in accordance with the Purchase Agreement therefor, including (without limitation) fees for software licenses, maintenance, consulting, training and other services described on such Schedule and administrative, engineering, legal, financing and other costs incurred by the County in connection with the acquisition, installation (which may include renovations to buildings), and financing and refinancing by the Lessor of such Equipment.

"Event of Default" has the meaning specified in Section 10.01.

"Lease Payments" means those scheduled payments (but excluding any indemnity payments and Additional Payments payable to the Lessor hereunder) payable by the County pursuant to an Agreement, as specifically set forth in a Schedule to this Capital Equipment Agreement.

"Lessor" means the institution specified in a Schedule, acting in its relationship to the County under this Capital Equipment Agreement and each Agreement executed hereunder, but not in its relationship, if any, to the County as Vendor, and its successors and assigns.

"**Net Proceeds**" means the amount remaining from the gross proceeds of any insurance claim or condemnation award after deducting all expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred in the collection of such claim or award.

"**Purchase Agreement**" means a purchase agreement between the County and the Vendor of Equipment.

"**Purchase Price**" means, with respect to any Agreement or the Equipment described therein, as of any particular date, the amount required to purchase such Equipment, as provided in Article VIII, such amount being equal to the total principal amount payable under such Agreement as set forth in the Schedule to such Agreement remaining unpaid as of such date, plus accrued interest, if any, thereon as of such date, plus all other amounts then owed under such Agreement by the County.

"Schedule" means a schedule of equipment and any fixtures and Lease Payments, a form of which is set forth as Exhibit A, which has been executed by the County and the Lessor, subject to such modifications, additions and deletions as approved by the County Executive or the Chief Administrative Officer of the County.

"State" means the State of Maryland.

"**Term**" means, with respect to each Agreement or the Equipment described therein, the term specified in such Agreement in accordance with Article III.

"UCC" means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect from time to time in the State.

"**Vendor**" means the manufacturer of an item of Equipment, as well as the agents or dealers of the manufacturer, from whom the County has purchased or is purchasing items of Equipment. The Lessor may become a Vendor of certain items of Equipment.

Section 1.02. Rules of Construction.

Unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, the following rules shall apply to the construction of this Capital Equipment Agreement and the Agreements:

(a) Words importing the singular number include the plural number and words importing the plural number include the singular number.

(b) Words of the masculine gender include correlative words of the feminine and neuter genders.

(c) The headings and the table of contents set forth in this Capital Equipment Agreement are solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Capital Equipment Agreement, nor shall they affect its meaning, construction or effect.

(d) Words importing persons include any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or government or agency or political subdivision thereof.

(e) Any reference to a particular Article, Section, Exhibit or Schedule shall be to such Article, Section, Exhibit or Schedule of or to this Capital Equipment Agreement unless the context shall otherwise require.

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF COUNTY AND LESSOR

Section 2.01. County's Representations.

The County represents in order to induce the Lessor to enter into an Agreement as follows:

(a) The County is a validly created and existing body corporate and politic and political subdivision of the State.

(b) The County has been fully authorized to execute and deliver this Capital Equipment Agreement and any Schedule hereunder; all requirements have been met and all procedures have taken place in order to ensure the validity and enforceability of this Capital Equipment Agreement and any Schedule hereunder in accordance with their respective terms.

Section 2.02. Lessor's Representations, Warranties and Covenants.

The Lessor represents, warrants and covenants in order to induce the County to enter into an Agreement as follows:

(a) The Lessor has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters, including (without limitation) purchase and ownership of municipal and other taxable and tax-exempt obligations, to be able to evaluate the risks and merits of the investment represented by the Agreements. The Lessor is able to bear the economic risks of such investment.

(b) The Lessor understands that (i) neither the State nor any political subdivision thereof other than the County shall be obligated to pay any amount payable under this Capital Equipment Agreement or any Agreement; and (ii) neither this Capital Equipment Agreement nor any Agreement shall create or constitute any indebtedness or obligation of the State or any political subdivision thereof other than the County and that such obligation of the County is subject to annual appropriation.

(c) The Lessor understands that no official statement, prospectus, offering circular or other offering statement is being prepared with respect to any Agreement. The Lessor has made its own inquiry and analysis with respect to the security for and sources of payment of any Agreement and has received all information which it deems necessary or relevant in connection with its evaluation of the credit of the County and the security for the Agreements in relation to the Lessor's decision to enter into any Agreement.

(d) The Lessor understands that neither this Capital Equipment Agreement nor any Agreement (i) is being registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (ii) is being registered or otherwise qualified for sale under the "blue sky" laws and regulations of any state, (iii) will be listed on any stock or other securities exchange or (iv) will carry any rating from any securities rating agency.

(e) The Lessor is entering into the Agreement for investment for its own account and it does not have any present intention to resell, dispose of or otherwise distribute such Agreement, except as permitted by law and subject to applicable banking and securities laws and regulations thereunder; *provided*, however, that the disposition of the Lessor's property shall at all times be within its control. In the event that, in the future, the Lessor sells any Agreement or any part thereof or grants participations therein, the Lessor agrees to comply with applicable federal and state securities laws in connection therewith.

Section 2.03. Tax Covenant.

With respect to the interest portion of the Lease Payments that the County intends be and remain excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, the County covenants that (i) it will take any and all actions lawfully within its powers so as to maintain the

excludability from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest portion of the Lease Payments and (ii) it will not perform any act or enter into any agreement or use or permit the use of the Equipment or any portion thereof in a manner that shall adversely affect the excludability from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest portion of the Lease Payments received by the Lessor, including (without limitation) leasing or transferring all or any portion of the Equipment or contracting with a third party for the use or operation of all or any portion of the Equipment if entering into such lease, transfer or contract would have such effect.

During the term of this Capital Equipment Agreement, the County shall be the sole beneficial and legal owner of the Equipment and the licensee of the right to use any software license component thereof, and the County will report on such basis for financial accounting, tax and all other purposes. The Lessor shall not take any action inconsistent with the County's ownership of the Equipment for federal income tax purposes except pursuant to the exercise of remedies under Article X.

ARTICLE III

LEASE OF EQUIPMENT

Section 3.01. Lease of Equipment.

From time to time, the County may enter into an Agreement with a Lessor for the County to transfer, convey, and assign to the Lessor its interest in the Equipment for the leasing of the Equipment by the Lessor to the County, subject to the provisions of this Capital Equipment Lease. Upon the execution of each Schedule, the Lessor shall lease to the County and the County shall lease from the Lessor, the Equipment described therein in accordance with the provisions of this Capital Equipment Agreement. Subject to the payment of the Lease Payments, the County shall have the right to have and to hold the Equipment for the Term. The Lessor hereby covenants that, as to claims of the Lessor, the County shall peaceably and quietly have, hold, possess, use and enjoy the Equipment, without suit, trouble or hindrance from the Lessor, subject to the terms and provisions hereof.

Section 3.02. Term.

The term of each Agreement shall commence on the date specified in the Schedule thereto and shall terminate upon the payment by the County of all Lease Payments with respect to such Agreement and any other payments required to be paid by the County with respect to such Agreement unless earlier terminated as provided in this Capital Equipment Agreement or such Schedule.

Unless extended by an ordinance of the County, this Capital Equipment Agreement shall terminate upon the later of (i) the first anniversary of the date of this Capital Equipment Agreement and (ii) earliest date as of which all Agreements in effect on the first anniversary of the effective date of this Capital Equipment Agreement have terminated.

Section 3.03. Delivery, Installation and Acceptance of Equipment.

The County shall order the Equipment pursuant to one or more Purchase Agreements from one or more Vendors. The County shall cause the Equipment to be delivered and installed at the locations specified in the Schedule with respect to such Equipment and shall pay all taxes, delivery costs and installation costs, if any, in connection therewith. When the Equipment described in a Schedule is delivered and installed to the County's specifications and the County has accepted such Equipment, the County shall execute and deliver to Lessor an Acceptance Certificate substantially in the form attached to the Schedule with respect thereto.

ARTICLE IV

LEASE PAYMENTS; SECURITY

Section 4.01. Lease Payments.

Subject to Section 4.05 and the further provisions of this Section, the County agrees to pay the Lease Payments specified in each Agreement in the amounts and on the dates set forth in the Schedule thereto and all other payments and fees due hereunder. The Lease Payments due under each Agreement shall be paid without notice or demand in lawful money of the United States of America to the Lessor at its address set forth in the Schedule or at such other place as Lessor may from time to time designate in writing. Any other amounts required to be paid by the County hereunder shall be paid in lawful money of the United States of America within 30 days of the receipt of notice therefor by the County, unless otherwise provided herein. Any Lease Payment or other amount payable hereunder paid after the due date for the payment thereof shall bear interest from such date and at such rate as shall be provided in the Schedule.

The obligation of the County to pay the Lease Payments and any other amounts required to be paid under any Schedule shall constitute a current expense of the County, shall be payable solely from amounts appropriated by the County that are legally available for the payment thereof and shall not constitute a debt or a pledge of the full faith and credit of the County.

Except as provided in this Section and Section 4.05, the obligations of the County to make payment of the Lease Payments and any other payments due under the Agreements and to perform and observe all other covenants thereunder shall be absolute and unconditional in all events, without abatement, diminution, deduction, set-off or defense for any reason (other than the defense that such amounts have been paid), including (without limitation) any failure of the Equipment to be delivered or installed, any defects, malfunctions, breakdowns or infirmities in the Equipment or any accident, condemnation, destruction or unforeseen circumstances. Nothing herein shall limit the County's rights or actions against any Vendor as provided in Section 7.02.

Section 4.02. Interest and Principal Components.

A portion of each Lease Payment is paid as, and represents payment of, interest, and the balance of each Lease Payment is paid as, and represents payment of, principal. Each Schedule

to an Agreement shall set forth the principal and interest components of each Lease Payment payable thereunder.

Section 4.03. Title.

Legal title to the Equipment leased under each Agreement, including (without limitation) the license of the right to use any software license component thereof, shall be in the County, subject to the rights of the Lessor under such Agreement.

Section 4.04. Continuation of Term by County.

The County agrees to use its best efforts annually to obtain the appropriation of sufficient funds from which the Lease Payments and other amounts payable hereunder may be made. Such efforts shall include (without limitation) the inclusion of such funds in the proposed budget of the County submitted to the County Council and a request for adequate funds to meet its annual obligations hereunder in full in its next fiscal year budget.

Section 4.05. Nonappropriation.

The obligation of the County to pay the Lease Payments and all other amounts payable by the County hereunder, including (without limitation) any indemnity payments, is subject to the appropriation of money legally available for such purpose by the County Council. In the event sufficient funds shall not be appropriated by the County Council for the payment of the Lease Payments required to be paid under any Agreement, the County may terminate such Agreement at the end of the last fiscal year or earlier date for which an appropriation is available without penalty and the County shall not be obligated to make payment of the Lease Payments and other payments provided for in such Agreement beyond the last date for which an appropriation is available. The County shall deliver written notice to the Lessor of such termination no later than seven business days after the County has knowledge that an appropriation will not be available. The failure to give such notice shall not extend the Term beyond such fiscal year and the County shall have no liability therefor. Upon termination of any Agreement for nonappropriation, the obligations of the County requiring the expenditure of money will cease so long as all payments previously appropriated have been made, and all title and interest of the County in the Equipment will terminate and be vested in the Lessor.

Section 4.06. Security Interest; Notice of Name Change.

Each Agreement is intended to constitute a security agreement within the meaning of the UCC. In order to secure its obligations under each Agreement, the County hereby grants to the Lessor a purchase money security interest constituting a first lien on any and all right, title and interest of the County in the Equipment thereunder, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, all additions, attachments, alterations and accessions to such Equipment, all substitutions and replacements for such Equipment and on any proceeds of any of the foregoing, including insurance proceeds. The County agrees to execute and deliver such additional documents, including (without limitation) financing statements, certificates of title, affidavits, notices and similar instruments, in form satisfactory to the Lessor, necessary or appropriate to perfect and maintain such security interest in the Equipment. The County hereby authorizes the Lessor to

file all financing statements which the Lessor deems necessary or appropriate to establish, maintain and perfect such security interest.

The Lessor's security interest in the Equipment shall terminate, and the Lessor shall execute and deliver to the County documents which evidence the termination of the Lessor's security or other interest in such Equipment in accordance with Section 8.01.

Section 4.07. Financial Statements and Other Information.

During the Term of each Agreement, the County shall provide to the Lessor annually, within 275 days after the last day of each fiscal year, audited financial statements of the County for such fiscal year and such other financial information relating to the ability of the County to continue each Agreement as reasonably may be requested by the Lessor. The County may satisfy the foregoing provision by posting such audited financial statements on the Electronic Municipal Market Access System or any substitute system maintained by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

ARTICLE V

MAINTENANCE; MODIFICATION; TAXES; INSURANCE AND OTHER CHARGES

Section 5.01. Use and Maintenance of Equipment.

During the Term of each Agreement, the County shall keep and maintain the Equipment leased under such Agreement in good condition and working order (ordinary wear and tear accepted) and in compliance with the manufacturers' specifications and shall use, operate and maintain the Equipment in material compliance with all laws and regulations concerning the Equipment.

Section 5.02. Liens, Taxes, Other Governmental Charges and Utility Charges.

The County shall keep the Equipment free of all levies, liens and encumbrances except the liens created by the Agreement under which the Equipment is leased during the Term of such Agreement. The County contemplates that the Equipment will be exempt from all property taxes. If the use, possession or acquisition of any Equipment is found to be subject to taxation, the County shall pay during the Term of the Agreement under which such Equipment is leased, as the same respectively come due, all taxes and governmental charges of any kind whatsoever that may at any time be lawfully assessed or levied against or with respect to such Equipment, as well as all gas, water, steam, electricity, heat, power, telephone, utility and other charges incurred in the operation, maintenance, use, occupancy and upkeep of such Equipment; *provided* that, with respect to any governmental charges that lawfully may be paid in installments over a period of years, the County shall be obligated to pay only such installments as have accrued during the Term of such Agreement.

Section 5.03. Insurance.

At its own expense, subject to appropriated funds, the County shall maintain selfinsurance or, at its option, maintain or cause to be maintained commercial insurance (i) on the Equipment against loss or damage due to fire and risks normally included in extended coverage, malicious mischief, and vandalism and (ii) with respect to liability for death or injuries to persons or damage to property arising out of or in any way connected to the Equipment. The Net Proceeds of the insurance required in this Section shall be applied as provided in Article VI.

Section 5.04. Advances.

In the event the County shall fail to maintain the full insurance coverage required by this Capital Equipment Agreement or shall fail to keep the Equipment in good repair and operating condition, after ten business days' written notice to the County, the Lessor may (but shall be under no obligation to) purchase the required policies of insurance and pay the premiums on the same or may make such repairs or replacements as are necessary and provide for payment thereof; and all amounts so advanced therefor by the Lessor, together with interest thereon, to the extent permitted by law, at an annual rate equal to the rate utilized to establish the interest component for the Lease Payments with respect to such Equipment shall constitute Additional Payments.

Section 5.05. Modifications and Substitutions.

(a) The County shall have the right, at its own expense, to make alterations, additions, modifications or improvements to the Equipment subject to the provisions of this Section. All such alterations, additions, modifications and improvements shall thereafter comprise part of the Equipment. Such alterations, additions, modifications and improvements shall not in any way damage the Equipment, substantially alter its nature or cause it to be used for purposes other than those authorized under the provisions of State and federal law; and the Equipment, on completion of any alterations, additions, modifications or Improvements made pursuant to this Section, shall be of a value which is equal to or greater than the value of the Equipment immediately prior to the making of such alterations, additions, modifications and improvements. The County shall, at its own expense, make such alterations, additions, modifications and improvements to the Equipment as may be required from time to time by applicable law or by any governmental authority during the Term of the Agreement under which such Equipment is leased.

(b) The County may substitute for all or any portion of the Equipment under a Schedule property of approximately equal or greater market value and with an equal or greater useful life as of the date of substitution. In the event of any such substitution, the County shall deliver to the Lessor a certification that the property proposed to be substituted has approximately equal or greater market value and an equal or greater useful life as the portion of the Equipment for which such property is substituted, together with an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the proposed substitution will not adversely affect the excludability from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest components of Lease Payments under the Schedule under which such Equipment was leased. The County shall be responsible for all costs and expenses of the Lessor, including reasonable counsel fees, in connection with any such substitution. The

County shall cause all financing statements, fixture filings, certificates of title, affidavits, notices and similar instruments, to be made or filed in a timely manner to secure and perfect the security interest of the Lessor in the substituted property.

Section 5.06. Location; Inspection of Equipment.

The Equipment will be initially located or based at the location specified in the Schedule under which it is leased. The County shall not make a permanent change in the location of the Equipment to a location outside of the County without prior written notice to the Lessor. The Lessor shall have the right at all reasonable times during business hours, upon reasonable advance notice to the County, to enter into and upon the property of the County for the purpose of inspecting the Equipment.

ARTICLE VI

DAMAGE, DESTRUCTION AND CONDEMNATION; USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Section 6.01. Damage, Destruction and Condemnation.

If during the Term of an Agreement (a) the Equipment thereunder or any portion thereof is destroyed (in whole or in part) or damaged by fire or other casualty, or (b) title to, or the temporary use of, such Equipment or any part thereof shall be taken under the exercise or threat of the power of eminent domain by any governmental body or by any person acting under governmental authority, then the County may, at its option, apply the Net Proceeds in whole or in part to (i) replace, repair, restore, modify or improve such Equipment or any portion thereof, or (ii) exercise its option to purchase such Equipment or provide for the payment of the Lease Payments as provided in Article VIII. Any balance of the Net Proceeds remaining after application in accordance with this Section shall be paid to the County.

Section 6.02. Insufficiency of Net Proceeds.

If the Net Proceeds received with respect to any Equipment are insufficient to pay in full the cost of any replacement, repair, restoration, modification or improvement referred to in Section 6.01, the County shall either (i) complete the work and pay any cost in excess of the amount of the Net Proceeds, in which event the County shall not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Lessor or to any diminution of the amounts payable under any Agreement; or (ii) purchase such Equipment or provide for the payment of the Lease Payments as provided in Article VIII. The amount of the Net Proceeds in excess of the amount required to purchase such Equipment or provide for the payments, if any, may be retained by the County.

ARTICLE VII

DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES; VENDORS' WARRANTIES

Section 7.01. Disclaimer of Warranties.

LESSOR MAKES NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE VALUE, DESIGN, COMPLIANCE WITH SPECIFICATIONS, QUALITY OF MATERIALS OR CONDITION, MERCHANTABILITY WORKMANSHIP, OR FITNESS FOR Α PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF THE EQUIPMENT OR ANY COMPONENT THEREOF OR ANY OTHER WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT THERETO AND, AS TO THE LESSOR, THE COUNTY'S PURCHASE OF THE EQUIPMENT SHALL BE ON AN "AS IS" BASIS. All such risks, as between the Lessor and the County, are to be borne by the County. The County shall be, and hereby is, authorized during the Term of each Agreement to assert and enforce, at the County's sole cost and expense, from time to time, in the name of and for the account of the Lessor or the County, as their interests may appear, whatever claims and rights the County or the Lessor may have against the Vendor or any prior title holder or possessor of the Equipment described therein. In no event shall the Lessor be liable for any incidental, indirect, special or consequential damage in connection with or arising out of the Agreements, the Equipment or the existence, furnishing, functioning or the County's use of any item or products or services provided for in this Capital Equipment Agreement and the Agreements. Nothing herein shall affect any warranty provided in any Purchase Agreement under which the Lessor is the Vendor.

Section 7.02. Vendor's Warranties.

The Lessor hereby irrevocably assigns to the County all rights that the Lessor may have to assert from time to time any claims and rights, including (without limitation) any breach of any warranty or any other right under any Purchase Agreement, which the Lessor or the County may have against any Vendor with respect to any Equipment. The County's sole remedy for the breach of any such warranty or any other right under any Purchase Agreement shall be against the Vendor of the Equipment, and not against the Lessor, nor shall any breach by any Vendor of any warranty or any other right under any Purchase Agreement have any effect whatsoever on the rights of the Lessor under this Capital Equipment Agreement and the Agreements, including (without limitation) the right to receive full and timely payments of the Lease Payments thereunder.

ARTICLE VIII

PURCHASE; DEFEASANCE

Section 8.01. Purchase Option; Defeasance.

The County shall be entitled to purchase the Equipment identified on any Schedule, and the Lessor's security interest therein shall be terminated, upon written notice delivered at least 30

days in advance of any date on which a Lease Payment is due, and upon the payment on such date of the Lease Payment due and the applicable Purchase Price.

The Lessor's security interest in the Equipment identified in any Schedule shall be terminated and released automatically in conjunction with the receipt of the full Purchase Price or the final Lease Payment due thereunder, together with any Additional Payments due and owing with respect to such Equipment. In connection with such termination and release, the Lessor shall deliver to the County such termination statements and other documents and instruments as the County shall reasonably require to evidence such payment and termination of such security interest.

ARTICLE IX

ASSIGNMENT, MORTGAGING AND SELLING

Section 9.01. Assignment by Lessor.

(a) Any Agreement, including (without limitation) the right to receive Lease Payments, may be assigned and reassigned in whole but not in part to one or more assignees or subassignees by the Lessor at any time subsequent to its execution, without the necessity of obtaining the consent of the County; *provided*, however that (a) the Lessor may not assign its obligation to make advances under any Agreement without the prior written consent of the County and (b) no assignment or reassignment of the rights of the Lessor under any Agreement shall be effective and binding on the County unless and until the County shall have received notice of the assignment or reassignment disclosing the name and address of the assignee or subassignee. The County, at the expense of the Lessor, agrees to execute all documents, including (without limitation) notices of assignment and chattel mortgages or financing statements, which may be reasonably requested by the Lessor or its assignee to protect its interest in the Equipment and any Agreement.

Neither the Lessor nor any assignee or subassignee of the Lessor may sell or (b) distribute, in fractionalized interests or participations, its rights to receive payment of the Lease Payments under any Agreement without the prior written consent of the County. If the County gives its consent to such sale or distribution of such fractionalized interests or participations, the Lessor or its assignee or subassignee (i) shall limit the number of holders of such interests or participations to "accredited investors" within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended; (ii) shall issue any such interest or participation in the amount of \$100,000 or more; (iii) shall maintain or cause to be maintained, on behalf of the County, registration books or a book entry system with respect to the ownership and transfer of such participations or interests that complies with the requirements of Section 149(a) of the Code; (iv) shall not establish any such participations or interests in a manner that would cause the interest component of the Lease Payments under any Agreement received by owners of such participations or interests to be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes; and (v) shall provide the County with a copy of all offering materials 30 days prior to the time any such interests or participations are offered for sale or distribution. The Lessor (i) shall be solely responsible for the allocation of payments received from the County among any such participants as their interests may appear; and (ii) shall be solely responsible for the costs and other financial or other liabilities attendant to

the establishment, maintenance and operation of the registration books or book entry system. The County shall have the right to inspect the registration books during normal business hours, or, if the registrar is not conveniently located for such inspection, the County shall be furnished, upon request, with photocopies of such books. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the County may, at its option and expense, appoint another agent to establish, maintain and operate the registration books or book entry system contemplated hereunder.

(c) The County has not prepared an official statement, an offering memorandum, or other offering materials in connection with any Agreement and does not intend to prepare such materials. It is the County's intent that the restrictions contained in this Section preclude the offering of fractionalized interests or participations except in a private placement.

Section 9.02. Sale, Assignment or Leasing by County.

The Agreements and the interest of the County in the Equipment may not be sold, assumed, assigned or encumbered by the County without the prior written consent of the respective Lessor; provided, however, the County may assign or transfer the Equipment to a related governmental entity, authority or commission to the extent (i) such Equipment remains encumbered by the security interest created in favor of the Lessor under the respective Agreement and (ii) such assignment or transfer does not have an adverse effect on the tax status of the interest component of the Lease Payments under the respective Agreement.

ARTICLE X

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 10.01. Events of Default.

The following constitute "Events of Default" under an Agreement:

(a) failure by the County to pay to the Lessor any Lease Payment under such Agreement when due (other than any such failure that results from the nonappropriation of funds available to pay such Lease Payments); or

(b) failure by the County to pay any other amount required to be paid thereunder, which failure shall continue for a period of 15 days after written notice thereof is delivered to the County by the Lessor (other than any such failure that results from the nonappropriation of funds available to pay such amount); or

(c) the County's failure to maintain insurance required under such Agreement which failure shall continue for a period of 10 days; or

(d) failure by the County to observe and perform any other covenant, condition or agreement on its part to be observed or performed under such Agreement, other than as referred to in clause (a), (b) or (c) above, for a period of 30 days after written notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied is given to the County by the Lessor; *provided* that, if the failure stated in such notice cannot be corrected within such period, the Lessor will not

unreasonably withhold its consent to an extension of such time if corrective action is instituted by the County within such period and diligently pursued until the default is corrected; or

(e) the County shall (i) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or liquidator of the County, or of all or a substantial part of the assets of the County, (ii) be unable, fail or admit in writing its inability generally to pay its debts as they become due, (iii) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (iv) have an order for relief entered against it under applicable federal bankruptcy law, or (v) file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or a petition or an answer seeking reorganization or an arrangement with creditors or taking advantage of any insolvency law or any answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against the County in any bankruptcy, reorganization or insolvency proceeding; or

(f) an order, judgment or decree shall be entered by any court of competent jurisdiction, approving a petition or appointing a receiver, trustee, custodian or liquidator of the County or of all or a substantial part of the assets of the County, in each case without its application, approval or consent, and such order, judgment or decree shall continue unstayed and in effect for any period of 90 consecutive days; or

(g) any written representation, warranty or statement made by the County in or pursuant to such Agreement was untrue in any material respect on the date made.

The provisions of paragraph (d) of this Section are subject to the following: if by reason of *force majeure* the County is unable in whole or in part to perform its agreements under an Agreement (other than the obligations to pay Lease Payments) the County shall not be in default during the continuance of such inability. The term *"force majeure"* as used herein shall mean any of the following: acts of God; strikes, lockouts or other industrial disturbances; acts of public enemies; orders or restraints of any kind of the government of the United States or of the State or any of their departments, agencies or officials, or any civil or military authority; insurrections, terrorist acts; riots, landslides, earthquakes, fires, storms, droughts, floods, explosions, breakage or accident to machinery, transmission pipes or canals; or any other cause or event not reasonably within the control of the County.

Section 10.02. Remedies on Default.

Whenever any Event of Default under an Agreement shall have occurred and be continuing, the Lessor thereunder shall have the right, at its sole option, to exercise one or more of the following remedies:

(a) subject to Section 4.05, to accelerate the payment of the Lease Payments and all other amounts then due and to become due during the then-current fiscal year of the County under such Agreement by written notice to the County, whereupon such Lease Payments and other amounts shall immediately become due and payable without further demand upon the County;

(b) to require the County to return the Equipment leased thereunder to the Lessor, whereupon the County shall promptly make available to the Lessor such Equipment;

(c) to sell or lease such Equipment or to sublease it for the account of the County holding the County liable for the excess, if any, of the sum of all Lease Payments and other amounts then due and to become due during the then-current fiscal year of the County under such Agreement for which funds available for such payments have been appropriated over the proceeds of the sale, lease or sublease of such Equipment; and

(d) to take any other action at law or in equity to enforce the performance and observance of any obligation, agreement or covenant of the County under such Agreement.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, if an Event of Default shall occur under an Agreement, then to the extent permitted by law, the Lessor shall be entitled to retake possession of such Equipment wherever situated, without any court order or other process of law and without liability for entering the premises, and sell any or all of such Equipment at a public or private sale, or otherwise dispose of, hold, use, operate, lease to others or keep idle such Equipment, with 10 days' notice to the County, all free and clear of any rights of the County, *provided* that any and all such actions be taken in a commercially reasonable manner.

All proceeds from the sale or other disposition of Equipment shall be applied in the following manner:

FIRST, to pay all proper and reasonable costs and expenses associated with the recovery, repair, storage and sale of such Equipment, including (without limitation) reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses, any advances, any Additional Payments and other amounts payable to the Lessor under such Agreement;

SECOND, to pay the Purchase Price of the Equipment leased under such Agreement;

THIRD, to pay to the United States of America any rebate or payment in lieu thereof due pursuant to Section 148 of the Code; and

FOURTH, the remainder of such proceeds shall be paid to the County.

All of the County's right, title and interest in any Equipment the possession of which is retaken by the Lessor upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (including, without limitation, construction contracts, warranties, guaranties or completion assurances applicable to such Equipment) shall pass to the Lessor, and the County's rights in such Equipment shall terminate immediately upon such repossession.

Section 10.03. No Remedy Exclusive.

No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the Lessor is intended to be exclusive and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under any Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity. No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. In order to entitle the Lessor to exercise any remedy reserved to it in this Article, it shall not be necessary to give any notice other than such notice as may be required by this Article.

Section 10.04. Additional Payments.

The County shall pay to the Lessor any reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Lessor in connection with the enforcement of its Agreement, including (without limitation) reasonable attorneys' fees.

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.01. Notices.

All notices, certificates or other communications hereunder shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when delivered or five days after they are mailed by registered mail, postage prepaid, to the parties at their addresses specified in the Schedule, or such other address as shall be specified by the County or the Lessor by notice given hereunder.

Section 11.02. Waiver of Jury Trial and Limitation of Forum.

The Lessor and, to the extent permitted by law, the County, hereby irrevocably waives all right to trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim (whether based on contract, tort or otherwise) arising out of or relating to the Agreements. Any suit or other proceeding seeking redress with regard to any claimed failure by the County to perform its obligations under an Agreement must be filed in the Circuit Court of Howard County, Maryland.

Section 11.03. Prohibition on Contingent Fees.

The Lessor warrants and agrees that it has not employed or retained and will not employ or retain any person, other than a bona fide employee or agent working for the Lessor, to solicit or secure any Agreement and that it has not paid or agreed to pay and will not pay or agree to pay any person other than a bona fide employee or agent any fee or other consideration contingent on the execution and delivery of any Agreement.

Section 11.04. Ethics and Fair Employment Practices.

The Lessor certifies that the officer of the Lessor executing a Schedule hereunder has read and understands the provisions of Section 901(a) of the Howard County Charter dealing with conflicts of interest and Section 22.204 of the Howard County Code dealing with conflicts of interest. The Lessor further certifies that it has (1) not been a party to an agreement to bid a fixed or uniform price; (2) not offered nor will offer any gratuity to any County official or employee; and (3) not violated any of the fair employment provisions of Section 4.119 of the Howard County Code (Ethics and Fair Employment Practices).

Section 11.05. Compliance with Laws.

The Lessor represents and warrants that:

(a) it is, to the extent required by applicable law, qualified to do business in the State and will take such action as, from time to time, may be necessary to remain so qualified;

(b) it is not in arrears with respect to the payment of any moneys due and owing the State, the County, or any department or unit thereof, including, but not limited to, the payment of taxes and employee benefits;

(c) it shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws applicable to its activities and obligations under this Capital Equipment Agreement; and

(d) it shall obtain, at its expense, all licenses, permits, insurance, and governmental approvals, if any, necessary to the performance of its obligations under this Capital Equipment Agreement.

Section 11.06. Retention of Records.

If requested by the County, the Lessor shall deliver to the County background material prepared or obtained by the Lessor incident to the performance of this Capital Equipment Agreement. "Background material" shall include, but not be limited to, work papers, notes, completed questionnaires, other printed materials, pamphlets, maps, drawings, and books acquired by the Lessor during the term of this Capital Equipment Agreement and directly related to the services provided under this Capital Equipment Agreement. Any proprietary computer programs of the Lessor are expressly excluded from the definition of "background material" as used in this Section. The Lessor shall maintain records and documents relating to the performance of its Agreement hereunder for three years following final payment hereunder or any applicable statute of limitations, whichever is longer, and shall make such records available for inspection and audit by the authorized representatives of the County.

Section 11.07. Nondiscrimination in Employment and Contracting.

The Lessor agrees: (a) not to discriminate in any manner against an employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, religion, disability, color, sex, national origin, age, occupation, marital status, political opinion, sexual orientation, personal appearance, familial status, source of income, or gender identity or expression; (b) to include a provision similar to that contained in subsection (a) above in any underlying subcontract; and (c) to post and to cause subcontractors to post in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment, notices setting forth the substance of this clause.

Section 11.08. Binding Effect.

The Agreements shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the Lessor, the County and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 11.09. Severability.

In the event any provision of any Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision hereof.

Section 11.10. Amendments.

No provision of any Agreement may be waived, altered, modified, supplemented or amended in any manner whatsoever except by written instrument signed by the parties thereto, and then such waiver, alteration, modification, supplement or amendment shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose given.

Section 11.11. Execution in Counterparts.

Each Schedule may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument.

Section 11.12. Applicable Law.

The Agreements shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws, excluding the laws relating to the choice of law, of the State.

Section 11.13. Entire Agreement.

This Capital Equipment Agreement, together with each Schedule and the attachments thereto, shall constitute the entire agreement between each Lessor and the County. There are no understandings, agreements, representations or warranties, express or implied, not specified therein regarding such Agreement or the Equipment financed thereunder.

Section 11.14. Waiver.

Any failure of the Lessor or the County to enforce at any time or for any period of time any provision of an Agreement shall not be construed to be a waiver of such provision or of the right of the Lessor or the County thereafter to enforce any provision of any Agreement. No express or implied waiver by the Lessor or the County of any default or remedy upon any default shall constitute a waiver of any other default or remedy, or a waiver of any of its rights.

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally]

The County has adopted this Capital Equipment Lease Agreement under seal in its names by its duly authorized officer, all as of the date first written above.

ATTEST:

HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND

By: _

Allan H. Kittleman (SEAL) County Executive

Exhibit A to Capital Equipment Lease Agreement

SCHEDULE NO. ____ Dated Date: _____

to

CAPITAL EQUIPMENT LEASE AGREEMENT Adopted by HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND Dated as of November 13, 2017

THIS SCHEDULE NO. ____ (this "Schedule") to the Capital Equipment Lease Agreement identified above (the "Capital Equipment Agreement") dated as of the Dated Date shown above and effective from the time of its execution and delivery between the parties, is by and between HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND (the "County") and ______ (the "Lessor"). All of the provisions of the Capital Equipment Agreement are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth herein. Terms used herein and not defined shall have the meanings assigned them in the Capital Equipment Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise.

1. The Capital Equipment Agreement and this Schedule No. _____ jointly constitute an Agreement (this "Agreement"). Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the Lessor hereby agrees to lease to the County and the County hereby agrees to lease from the Lessor, the Equipment identified in Attachment A attached hereto, which will be located at the address(es) shown on Attachment A.

2. IF NO ESCROW FUND IS TO BE CREATED:

(a) On the date hereof, proceeds of this Agreement in the amount shown on Attachment A will be advanced by the Lessor to the County by the payment of such amount to the County or a Vendor, as the case may be, to pay the costs of the Equipment described in Part I of Attachment A. The Lessor agrees that from time to time from the date of delivery of this Schedule, upon compliance by the County with the further provisions of this paragraph, it shall make additional advances to the County evidenced by this Agreement to finance the Costs of the Equipment described in Part II of Attachment A in an amount up to the amount of the additional advances shown in Part II of Attachment A.

(b) Additional advances of proceeds of this Agreement shall be disbursed from time to time by the Lessor pursuant to the following procedures.

(i) The County will submit or cause to be submitted to the Lessor Vendors' invoices with respect to the Equipment described in Part II of Attachment A.

(ii) The County will execute an Acceptance Certificate with respect to such Equipment and return it to the Lessor.

(iii) The Lessor will pay the Vendor(s) or reimburse the County within five business days of receipt of each Acceptance Certificate.

(c) No additional advances shall be made by the Lessor hereunder if an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.

IF SCHEDULE CONTEMPLATES THE FUNDING OF AN ESCROW:

On the date hereof, proceeds of this Agreement in the amount shown on Attachment A will be advanced by the Lessor to the County to pay the costs of the Equipment described in Attachment A, by the payment of such amount to the Escrow Agent identified on Attachment A attached hereto and made a part hereof under the Escrow Agreement described therein for deposit in the Escrow Fund created thereby.

3. The Lease Payments with respect to this Agreement, the due dates thereof and the prepayment price of the Equipment purchased hereunder are as set forth in Attachment C hereto.

4. The County represents and covenants that as of the date hereof (a) all of its representations contained in the Capital Equipment Agreement were true and accurate as of the date made, remain true and accurate as of the date of this Schedule and are hereby reaffirmed; (b) the County reasonably has sufficient appropriations or other funds legally available to pay all of the Lease Payments and other amounts due under this Agreement for the fiscal period ending ______, 20___; (c) the County's use of the Equipment is essential for the County to perform its governmental functions; and (d) the opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to this Agreement is attached hereto as Attachment D.

5. For purposes of Section 11.01 of the Capital Equipment Agreement, the County's address is Howard County, Maryland, 3430 Court House Drive, Ellicott City, Maryland 21043 Attention: ______. The Lessor's address is ______.

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereunto affixed their signatures as of the Dated Date shown above.

HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND

By: _____(SEAL)

By: _____(SEAL)

[Signature page of Schedule No. _____ to Capital Equipment Lease Agreement]

Attachment A to Schedule No. ____ to Capital Equipment Lease Agreement

EQUIPMENT AND PROCEEDS

Attachment B to Schedule No. __ to Capital Equipment Lease Agreement

ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

SCHEDULE NO. ___

Dated Date: _____ Between Howard County, Maryland and

to

CAPITAL EQUIPMENT LEASE AGREEMENT Adopted by HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND Dated as of November 13, 2017

(collectively, the "Agreement")

Howard County, Maryland (the "County") hereby acknowledges that the equipment described herein (the "Equipment") has been delivered to the location indicated in the Agreement, installed, inspected and tested as the County deems necessary and accepted. The submission of this Acceptance Certificate shall not be deemed a waiver by the County of any claims that it may have against a Vendor (as defined in the Agreement) under Article 2 of the Uniform Commercial Code of any jurisdiction or otherwise.

The County further certifies that no Event of Default (as defined in the Agreement) or event that, with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute such an Event of Default, has occurred and is continuing.

Equipment Acceptance Date: _____, 20_

The Equipment identified above is as follows:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County has caused its authorized officer to execute this Acceptance Certificate as of the date shown below.

Date: _____, 20_

HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND

By:			
Name:			_

Title: _____

Attachment C to Schedule No. ____ to Capital Equipment Lease Agreement

PAYMENT SCHEDULE

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION

[closing date]

County Executive and County Council of Howard County, Maryland Ellicott City, Maryland

[Lessor]

Ladies and Gentlemen:

As Bond Counsel to Howard County, Maryland (the "County") in connection with the execution and delivery by the County and ______ (the "Lessor") of Schedule No. ____, dated ______, 20__ (the "Schedule"), to the Capital Equipment Lease Agreement dated as of November 13, 2017, adopted by the County (the "Capital Equipment Agreement" and together with the Schedule, the "Agreement"), we have examined:

- (i) the Agreement;
- (ii) relevant provisions of the Constitution and laws of the State of Maryland;
- (iii) relevant provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and the applicable regulations thereunder; and
- (iv) other proofs submitted to us relative to the execution and delivery of the Schedule.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the County is leasing from the Lessor certain equipment (the "Equipment"), as more fully described in the Schedule. The Agreement provides for the payment by the County of certain amounts (the "Lease Payments"), consisting of a principal portion and an interest portion on the dates set forth in Attachment C to the Schedule. Payment of the Lease Payments and all other amounts payable under the Agreement are subject to annual appropriation by the County of money legally available for such purpose.

In rendering this opinion, we have relied upon the County's Tax and Section 148 Certificate executed in connection with the Agreement and made on behalf of the County by officers thereof with respect to certain material facts within the knowledge of the County relevant to the tax-exempt status of the interest portion of the Lease Payments. In our examination of the Agreement and Schedule we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, legal capacity of all natural persons, and the accuracy and completeness of the Agreement and Schedule.

Based upon the foregoing and under existing statutes, regulations, and decisions, it is our opinion that:

(a) The County is a body corporate and politic and a political subdivision of the State of Maryland (the "State"), legally existing under the laws of the State.

(b) The County has duly adopted the Capital Equipment Agreement and duly authorized, executed and delivered the Schedule, and assuming due authorization, execution and delivery of the Schedule by the other parties thereto, the Agreement constitutes a valid, binding and enforceable agreement of the County in accordance with its terms.

(c) The Agreement is subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization and other state and federal laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights and to general principles of equity. Enforceability of the Agreement may also be limited by applicable securities laws and public policy.

(d) The execution of the Schedule does not result in the violation of any constitutional or statutory limitation relating to the amount of indebtedness which may be incurred by the County.

(e) The County shall not be obligated to pay the Lease Payments and all other amounts payable under the Agreement except from money appropriated by the County that is legally available for such purpose. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the County is pledged to the payment of the Lease Payments or any other amounts payable under the Agreement. The execution and delivery of the Schedule does not directly or indirectly or contingently obligate, morally or otherwise, the County to levy or to pledge any form of taxation whatever therefor or to make any appropriation for its payment.

(f) Assuming compliance with the covenants referred to herein, the interest portion of the Lease Payments to be received by the Lessor is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. It is noted that under the provisions of the Code, there are certain restrictions that must be met subsequent to the delivery of the Agreement in order for the interest portion of the Lease Payments to remain excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, including restrictions that must be complied with throughout the term of the Agreement. These include the following: (i) a requirement that certain earnings received from the investment of the proceeds of the Agreement be rebated to the United States of America under certain circumstances (or that certain payments in lieu of rebate be made); (ii) other requirements applicable to the investment of the proceeds of the Agreement and the Equipment financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Agreement. Failure to comply with one or more of these requirements could result in the inclusion of the interest portion of the Lease Payments in gross income for federal income tax purposes. The County has made certain covenants regarding actions required to maintain the excludability from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest portion of the Lease Payments. It is our opinion that, assuming compliance with such covenants, the interest portion of the Lease Payments will remain excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes under the provisions of the Code.

(g) The interest portion of the Lease Payments will not be includable in the alternative minimum taxable income of individuals, corporations or other taxpayers as an enumerated item of tax preference or other specific adjustment. However, for purposes of calculating the corporate alternative minimum tax, a corporation subject to tax will be required to increase its alternative minimum taxable income by 75% of the amount by which its "adjusted current earnings" exceed its alternative minimum taxable income (computed without regard to this current earnings adjustment and the alternative tax net operating loss deduction). For such purposes, "adjusted current earnings" would include, among other items, interest income from the Lease Payments. In addition, the interest portion of the Lease Payments will be subject to the branch profits tax imposed by the Code on foreign corporations engaged in a trade or business in the United States of America.

The opinions expressed herein are solely for the use of the addressees in connection with the execution and delivery of the Agreement and, without our prior written consent, may not be quoted in whole or in part or otherwise referred to in any legal opinion, document or other report, provided that this opinion letter may be included in the transcript of supporting documents in connection with the execution and delivery of the Agreement. This opinion may be relied upon only by the addressees hereof and any assignee of the Lessor's interest in the Agreement. We are expressing no opinion regarding the effect of any such assignment on the treatment for federal income tax purposes of the interest portion of the Lease Payments received by any assignee under any such assignment. No opinion is expressed with respect to any supplemental interest, fees, costs, charges or any other amount payable under or with respect to the Agreement that does not constitute interest for federal income tax purposes.

No attorney-client relationship has existed or exists between our firm and any addressee other than the County in connection with the transaction contemplated by the Agreement or by virtue of this opinion.

We assume no obligation to supplement this opinion if any applicable laws or interpretations thereof change after the date hereof or if we become aware of any facts or circumstances that might change the opinions expressed herein after the date hereof. The opinions expressed above are limited to the matters set forth above, and no other opinions should be inferred beyond the matters expressly stated.

Very truly yours,

SCHEDULE NO. 1 Dated Date: November 13, 2017

to

CAPITAL EQUIPMENT LEASE AGREEMENT Adopted by HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND Dated as of November 13, 2017

THIS SCHEDULE NO. 1 (this "Schedule") to the Capital Equipment Lease Agreement identified above (the "Capital Equipment Agreement") dated as of the Dated Date shown above and effective from the time of its execution and delivery between the parties, is by and between HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND (the "County") and BANC OF AMERICA PUBLIC CAPITAL CORP (the "Lessor"). All of the provisions of the Capital Equipment Agreement are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth herein. Terms used herein and not defined shall have the meanings assigned them in the Capital Equipment Agreement, unless the context requires otherwise.

1. The Capital Equipment Agreement and this Schedule No. 1 jointly constitute an Agreement (this "Agreement"). Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the Lessor hereby agrees to lease to the County and the County hereby agrees to lease from the Lessor, the Equipment identified in Attachment A attached hereto, which will be located at the address or addresses shown on Attachment A.

2. On the date hereof, proceeds of this Agreement in the amount shown on Attachment A will be advanced by the Lessor to the County to pay the costs of the Equipment described in Attachment A, by the payment of such amount to the Escrow Agent identified on Attachment A attached hereto and made a part hereof under the Escrow Agreement described therein for deposit in the Escrow Fund created thereby.

3. The Lease Payments with respect to this Agreement, the due dates thereof and the prepayment price of the Equipment purchased hereunder are as set forth in Attachment C hereto.

4. The County represents and covenants that as of the date hereof (a) all of its representations contained in the Capital Equipment Agreement were true and accurate as of the date made, remain true and accurate as of the date of this Schedule and are hereby reaffirmed; (b) the County reasonably has sufficient appropriations or other funds legally available to pay all of the Lease Payments and other amounts due under this Agreement for the fiscal period ending June 30, 2018; (c) the County's use of the Equipment is essential for the County to perform its governmental functions; and (d) the opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to this Agreement is attached hereto as Attachment D.

5. For purposes of Section 11.01 of the Capital Equipment Agreement, the County's address is Howard County, Maryland, 3430 Court House Drive, Ellicott City, Maryland 21043 Attention: Director of Finance. The Lessor's address is Banc of America Public Capital Corp.

11333 McCormick Road, Mail Code: MD5-032-07-05, Hunt Valley, Maryland 20131 Attention: Contract Administration.

6. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Lessor shall have the right to require a late payment charge for each Lease Payment due under this Agreement which is not paid within ten days of the date when due equal to the lesser of 5% of such late payment or the legal maximum.

7. (a) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Taxability with respect to this Agreement, (i) the interest component of the Lease Payments under this Agreement shall be payable at the Taxable Rate from and after the date (the "Taxable Date") as of which the interest component is determined to be includible in the gross income of the Lessor for federal income tax purposes pursuant to an Event of Taxability and (ii) upon demand of the Lessor, the County shall pay to the Lessor an amount equal to the excess of (1) the amount of the interest component that would have been paid at the Taxable Rate from the Taxable Date to the date of such payment over (2) the interest component paid during such period. The foregoing provisions are subject to the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Capital Equipment Agreement and, to the extent applicable, the provisions of the Maryland Local Government Tort Claims Act, Sections 5-301 et seq., of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article, Maryland Annotated Code and other provisions of Maryland law.

For purposes of this Agreement, "Event of Taxability" means the (b) circumstance of the interest component of any Lease Payment paid or payable pursuant to this Agreement becoming includible for federal income tax purposes in Lessor's gross income as a consequence of any act or omission of the County upon the first to occur of the following: (a) the receipt by the Lessor or the County of an original or a copy of an Internal Revenue Service Technical Advice Memorandum or Statutory Notice of Deficiency or other written correspondence which legally holds that the interest component of any Lease Payment under this Agreement is includable in the gross income of the Lessor for federal income tax purposes; (b) the issuance of any public or private ruling of the Internal Revenue Service that the interest component of any Lease Payment under this Agreement is includable in the gross income of the Lessor for federal income tax purposes; or (c) receipt by the Lessor or the County of a written opinion of a nationally recognized firm of attorneys experienced in matters pertaining to the tax-exempt status of interest on obligations issued by states and their political subdivisions, selected by the Lessor and acceptable to the County, to the effect that the interest component of any Lease Payment under this Agreement has become includable in the gross income of the Lessor for federal income tax purposes unless, within 180 days after receipt by the County of a copy of such opinion from the Lessor, the County shall deliver to the Lessor a ruling or determination letter issued by the Commissioner or any District Director of Internal Revenue (or any other governmental official exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) to the effect that the facts forming the basis for such opinion do not give rise to an Event of Taxability. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the event described in clause (a) or (b) of the foregoing sentence shall not be deemed to be an Event of Taxability unless the County has been afforded the opportunity, at its expense, to contest any such written correspondence or ruling, respectively, and if such contest is made, such contest has been finally determined adversely to the County until the conclusion of any appellate review, if sought.

(c) "Taxable Rate" means, with respect to this Agreement, the equivalent taxable rate of interest of the then applicable interest rate for the Lease Payments.

8. Upon termination of this Agreement for nonappropriation under the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Capital Equipment Agreement, the County shall cease using the Equipment and, at the County's sole expense (from legally available funds), peaceably remove and deliver the Equipment to the Lessor at the location within Howard County, Maryland to be specified by the Lessor or at any location agreed to by the County and the Lessor.

9. In addition to the Events of Default provided in Section 10.01 of the Capital Equipment Agreement, for purposes of this Agreement, the following shall also constitute an Event of Default for purposes of such Section: a payment default occurs and is continuing under any other agreement for borrowing money, lease financing of property or otherwise receiving credit under which the County is an obligor, if such payment default arises under any other agreement, lease financing of property or provision of credit provided by the Lessor or any affiliate of the Lessor under a Schedule under the Capital Equipment Agreement.

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereunto affixed their signatures as of the Dated Date shown above.

WITNESS/ATTEST:

HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND

Lonnie R. Robbins Chief Administrative Officer By: _____(SEAL) _____(SEAL) County Executive

RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL:

Clive Graham Administrator, Office of Transportation

APPROVED FOR SUFFICIENCY OF FUNDS:

Stanley J. Milesky, Director Department of Finance

APPROVED FOR FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY this _____ day of November, 2017:

Gary W. Kuc County Solicitor

REVIEWING ATTORNEY:

Norman E. Parker, Jr. Senior Assistant County Solicitor

BANC OF AMERICA PUBLIC CAPITAL CORP

By: _____

[Signature page of Schedule No. 1 to Capital Equipment Lease Agreement]

EQUIPMENT AND PROCEEDS

1. Equipment. The cost of the Equipment to be funded by the Lessor under this Agreement is \$2,223,000, including related costs. The Equipment consists of the following equipment which has been or shall be purchased from the Vendor named below.

Vender Name	Description		
ElDorado National California, Inc.	Six E-Z Rider II 32' Low Floor Transit Buses		

2. Location of Equipment. The Equipment will initially be located at: 8800 Corridor Road, Annapolis Junction, Maryland 20701.

3. Proceeds. On the date hereof, the Lessor shall advance \$2,223,000 to the County by depositing such proceeds into the segregated escrow account designated the "Howard County, Maryland Equipment Acquisition Fund" and established under the Escrow and Account Control Agreement dated as of November 13, 2017, among the Lessor, the County and Bank of America, National Association.

Attachment B to Schedule No. 1 to Capital Equipment Lease Agreement

ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

SCHEDULE NO. 1 Dated Date: November 13, 2017 Between Howard County, Maryland and Banc of America Public Capital Corp

to

CAPITAL EQUIPMENT LEASE AGREEMENT Adopted by HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND Dated as of November 13, 2017

(collectively, the "Agreement")

Howard County, Maryland (the "County") hereby acknowledges that the equipment described herein (the "Equipment") has been delivered to the location indicated in the Agreement, installed, inspected and tested as the County deems necessary and accepted. The submission of this Acceptance Certificate shall not be deemed a waiver by the County of any claims that it may have against a Vendor (as defined in the Agreement) under Article 2 of the Uniform Commercial Code of any jurisdiction or otherwise.

The County further certifies that no Event of Default (as defined in the Agreement) or event that, with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute such an Event of Default, has occurred and is continuing.

Equipment Acceptance Date: _____, 20_

The Equipment identified above is as follows:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County has caused its authorized officer to execute this Acceptance Certificate as of the date shown below.

Date: _____, 20_

HOWARD COUNTY, MARYLAND

By:	
Name:	
Title: _	

PAYMENT SCHEDULE

The annual interest rate applicable to the Agreement shall be 2.107%. The County shall make the Lease Payments, each consisting of principal and interest components, semi-annually as set forth below for the Term commencing on the date of this Agreement and ending on the last payment date set forth below. On or before August 1, 2022, the Purchase Price shall include payment of 102% of the outstanding principal component after payment of the Lease Payment due on such date. After August 1, 2022, the Purchase Price shall include payment of 100% of the outstanding principal component after payment of 100% of the outstanding principal component after payment due on such date.

Payment	Payment	Total Lease	Principal	Interest	Purchase
Number	Date	Payment	Component	Component	Price*
1	2/1/2018	\$224,148	\$214,000	\$10,148	\$2,049,180
2	8/1/2018	112,165	91,000	21,165	1,956,360
3	2/1/2019	111,206	91,000	20,206	1,863,540
4	8/1/2019	112,247	93,000	19,247	1,768,680
5	2/1/2020	111,268	93,000	18,268	1,673,820
6	8/1/2020	112,288	95,000	17,288	1,576,920
7	2/1/2021	111,287	95,000	16,287	1,480,020
8	8/1/2021	112,286	97,000	15,286	1,381,080
9	2/1/2022	111,264	97,000	14,264	1,282,140
10	8/1/2022	112,243	99,000	13,243	1,181,160
11	2/1/2023	111,200	99,000	12,200	1,059,000
12	8/1/2023	113,157	102,000	11,157	957,000
13	2/1/2024	111,082	101,000	10,082	856,000
14	8/1/2024	113,018	104,000	9,018	752,000
15	2/1/2025	110,922	103,000	7,922	649,000
16	8/1/2025	111,837	105,000	6,837	544,000
17	2/1/2026	111,731	106,000	5,731	438,000
18	8/1/2026	112,614	108,000	4,614	330,000
19	2/1/2027	111,477	108,000	3,477	222,000
20	8/1/2027	224,339	222,000	2,339	0

* After payment of the Lease Payment due on such date.

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION

[closing date]

County Executive and County Council of Howard County, Maryland Ellicott City, Maryland

Banc of America Public Capital Corp Richmond, Virginia

Ladies and Gentlemen:

As Bond Counsel to Howard County, Maryland (the "County") in connection with the execution and delivery by the County and Banc of America Public Capital Corp (the "Lessor") of Schedule No. 1, dated November 13, 2017 (the "Schedule"), to the Capital Equipment Lease Agreement dated as of November 13, 2017, adopted by the County (the "Capital Equipment Agreement" and together with the Schedule, the "Agreement"), we have examined:

- (i) the Agreement;
- (ii) relevant provisions of the Constitution and laws of the State of Maryland;
- (iii) relevant provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and the applicable regulations thereunder; and
- (iv) other proofs submitted to us relative to the execution and delivery of the Schedule.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the County is leasing from the Lessor certain equipment (the "Equipment"), as more fully described in the Schedule. The Agreement provides for the payment by the County of certain amounts (the "Lease Payments"), consisting of a principal portion and an interest portion on the dates set forth in Attachment C to the Schedule. Payment of the Lease Payments and all other amounts payable under the Agreement are subject to annual appropriation by the County of money legally available for such purpose.

In rendering this opinion, we have relied upon the County's Tax and Section 148 Certificate executed in connection with the Agreement and made on behalf of the County by officers thereof with respect to certain material facts within the knowledge of the County relevant to the tax-exempt status of the interest portion of the Lease Payments. In our examination of the Agreement and

Schedule we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, legal capacity of all natural persons, and the accuracy and completeness of the Agreement and Schedule.

Based upon the foregoing and under existing statutes, regulations, and decisions, it is our opinion that:

(a) The County is a body corporate and politic and a political subdivision of the State of Maryland (the "State"), legally existing under the laws of the State.

(b) The County has duly adopted the Capital Equipment Agreement and duly authorized, executed and delivered the Schedule, and assuming due authorization, execution and delivery of the Schedule by the other parties thereto, the Agreement constitutes a valid, binding and enforceable agreement of the County in accordance with its terms.

(c) The Agreement is subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization and other state and federal laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights and to general principles of equity. Enforceability of the Agreement may also be limited by applicable securities laws and public policy.

(d) The execution of the Schedule does not result in the violation of any constitutional or statutory limitation relating to the amount of indebtedness which may be incurred by the County.

(e) The County shall not be obligated to pay the Lease Payments and all other amounts payable under the Agreement except from money appropriated by the County that is legally available for such purpose. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the County is pledged to the payment of the Lease Payments or any other amounts payable under the Agreement. The execution and delivery of the Schedule does not directly or indirectly or contingently obligate, morally or otherwise, the County to levy or to pledge any form of taxation whatever therefor or to make any appropriation for its payment.

Assuming compliance with the covenants referred to herein, the interest portion of (f) the Lease Payments to be received by the Lessor is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. It is noted that under the provisions of the Code, there are certain restrictions that must be met subsequent to the delivery of the Agreement in order for the interest portion of the Lease Payments to remain excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, including restrictions that must be complied with throughout the term of the Agreement. These include the following: (i) a requirement that certain earnings received from the investment of the proceeds of the Agreement be rebated to the United States of America under certain circumstances (or that certain payments in lieu of rebate be made); (ii) other requirements applicable to the investment of the proceeds of the Agreement; and (iii) other requirements applicable to the use of the proceeds of the Agreement and the Equipment financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Agreement. Failure to comply with one or more of these requirements could result in the inclusion of the interest portion of the Lease Payments in gross income for federal income tax purposes. The County has made certain covenants regarding actions required to maintain the excludability from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest portion of the Lease Payments. It is our opinion that, assuming compliance with such covenants, the interest portion of the Lease

Payments will remain excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes under the provisions of the Code.

(g) The interest portion of the Lease Payments will not be includable in the alternative minimum taxable income of individuals, corporations or other taxpayers as an enumerated item of tax preference or other specific adjustment. However, for purposes of calculating the corporate alternative minimum tax, a corporation subject to tax will be required to increase its alternative minimum taxable income by 75% of the amount by which its "adjusted current earnings" exceed its alternative minimum taxable income (computed without regard to this current earnings adjustment and the alternative tax net operating loss deduction). For such purposes, "adjusted current earnings" would include, among other items, interest income from the Lease Payments. In addition, the interest portion of the Lease Payments will be subject to the branch profits tax imposed by the Code on foreign corporations engaged in a trade or business in the United States of America.

The opinions expressed herein are solely for the use of the addressees in connection with the execution and delivery of the Agreement and, without our prior written consent, may not be quoted in whole or in part or otherwise referred to in any legal opinion, document or other report, provided that this opinion letter may be included in the transcript of supporting documents in connection with the execution and delivery of the Agreement. This opinion may be relied upon only by the addressees hereof and any assignee of the Lessor's interest in the Agreement. We are expressing no opinion regarding the effect of any such assignment on the treatment for federal income tax purposes of the interest portion of the Lease Payments received by any assignee under any such assignment. No opinion is expressed with respect to any supplemental interest, fees, costs, charges or any other amount payable under or with respect to the Agreement that does not constitute interest for federal income tax purposes.

No attorney-client relationship has existed or exists between our firm and any addressee other than the County in connection with the transaction contemplated by the Agreement or by virtue of this opinion.

We assume no obligation to supplement this opinion if any applicable laws or interpretations thereof change after the date hereof or if we become aware of any facts or circumstances that might change the opinions expressed herein after the date hereof. The opinions expressed above are limited to the matters set forth above, and no other opinions should be inferred beyond the matters expressly stated.

Very truly yours,